THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
AUG 07 2019
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-002277

American Star Development SC, LLC; KKMC Investments, LLC; and
211, LLC Plaintiffs,

v.

PulteGroup, Inc.; Pulte Home Corporation, n/k/a Pulte Home Company, LLC;
and JW Homes, LLC Defendants,

Of which American Star Development SC, LLC is the Appellant,

And Pulte Home Corporation, n/k/a Pulte Home Company, LLC is the Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mr. Charles Robert Scarminach, Esquire
E. Brandon Gaskins (S.C. Bar No. 72374)
MOORE & VAN ALLEN PLLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION TO ESTABLISH A SELLER'S INTEREST IN FUTURE CONDMENATION PROCEEDS DOES NOT AFFECT THE TITLE TO REAL PROPERTY UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-11-10?

- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT A BREACH OF CONTRACT ACTION SEEKING SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF A CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATION TO CONSTRUCT AN ACCESS ROAD OVER DEFENDANT'S PROPERTY DOES NOT AFFECT THE TITLE TO REAL PROPERTY UNDER S.C. CODE ANN § 15-11-10?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant American Star Development SC, LLC (“American Star”)¹ filed causes of action against the subsequent purchasers of property it once owned seeking (1) specific performance of a contractual obligation to construct an access road to American Star’s adjacent property and (2) a declaration of American Star’s interest in expected proceeds from a future condemnation of a portion of the property by the Town of Mount Pleasant.

To protect its interest and rights, American Star filed a lis pendens on the property it sold, placing all prospective buyers on notice of the pending litigation and American Star’s asserted rights and interests. (R. pp. 009-013.) The lis pendens was filed on April 6, 2018, and the complaint was filed within twenty days, on April 26, 2018. (R. pp. 009-013; R. pp. 014-051.) American Star filed an amended complaint on May 1, 2018, adding two of American Star’s affiliated entities as plaintiffs. (R. pp. 052-089.)

On June 22, 2018, the current owner of the property, Defendant Pulte Home Corporation, n/k/a Pulte Home Company, filed a motion to cancel the lis pendens. (R. pp. 106-108.) Thereafter, a final plat subdividing the property into residential lots was approved by the Town of Mount Pleasant. (R. p. 129.) On August 28, 2018, Plaintiffs filed an amended lis pendens covering the lots in the project area and subject to possible condemnation and the lots over which the access road could be built. (R. pp. 120-122.) As a result, Defendant Pulte Home Corporation filed an amended motion to cancel the amended lis pendens on September 17, 2018. (R. pp. 123-125.)

¹ As set forth in the amended complaint and motion to substitute parties, American Star’s affiliated entities were assigned interests and rights under the underlying purchase agreement. (R. p. 055; R. pp. 174-185.) In addition, American Star’s affiliated entity owns adjacent property. (*Id.*) Those affiliated entities have assigned their rights and interests in the litigation and underlying agreement to American Star SPE-2, LLC, and Plaintiffs have moved to substitute American Star SPE-2, LLC as the sole plaintiff in this case. (*Id.*) For the sake of clarity, “American Star” is used to refer collectively to all entities and their assigns.

The motion to cancel the lis pendens was heard before the Honorable Judge R. Lawton McIntosh on September 21, 2018. (R. pp. 193-217.) On October 1, 2018, Judge McIntosh issued a Form 4 order granting the motion to cancel the lis pendens and directing Defendants' counsel to prepare a formal order consistent with briefing and oral arguments. (R. pp. 001-002.) The formal order prepared by Defendants' counsel was issued by Judge McIntosh on November 16, 2018, and written notice of its issuance was received on November 20, 2018. (R. pp. 003-008.)

Judge McIntosh ruled that American Star's action did not meet the statutory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-11-10. (*Id.*) According to the order, the action for specific performance to construct the access road did not affect the title to real property because it did not seek to establish an easement, enforce an encumbrance, or establish an equitable interest in real property. (R. pp. 006-007.) The order further stated that the action for declaratory judgment of American Star's interest in future condemnation proceeds did not affect the title to real property because it asserted an interest in personal property and not real property. (R. pp. 007.)

American Star appealed the order canceling the lis pendens by serving a notice of appeal on December 20, 2018. (R. pp. 161-170.) While the appeal was pending, Plaintiffs assigned their interests and rights in the litigation and underlying contract to an affiliated entity, American Star SPE-2, LLC. (R. pp. 187-190.) On March 5, 2019, Plaintiffs filed a motion to substitute parties and amend the amended complaint, whereby American Star SPE-2, LLC would become the sole plaintiff. (R. pp. 171-190.) That motion remains pending.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In February 2015, American Star and JW Homes, LLC, through an affiliate,² entered into an agreement for American Star to sell JW Homes property located off of 6 Mile Road in the Town of Mount Pleasant, South Carolina (the “Primus Property”). (R. p. 054.) American Star, through a wholly-owned affiliate company, also owns property adjacent to the Primus Property. (R. p. 054; R. pp. 174-185.)

The Primus Property is located within the Billy Swails Boulevard Phase 4B Project Area as designated by the Town of Mount Pleasant. (R. p. 127; R. pp. 158-160.) The Town has designated this area for future road expansion to complete what was originally named the Hungryneck Boulevard corridor. The current schedule for the project anticipates the final design to be completed in 2019 and for construction to begin in 2020. (*Id.*)

Section 13(a) of the Primus Property purchase agreement provides that if a portion of the property is condemned to complete the Hungryneck Boulevard extension, the condemnation proceeds will be shared equally between the buyer and American Star. (R. p. 071.) That section also provides that American Star’s interest in the condemnation proceeds shall be memorialized in an instrument to be recorded at closing.³ (*Id.*) Specifically, Section 13(a) of the agreement provides:

The parties are aware of the potential that a portion of the Property may be taken by eminent domain for the extension of Hungryneck Boulevard. If any portion of the Property is taken for this purpose by eminent domain or by an agreed-upon sale in lieu of eminent domain proceedings, whether before or after the Closing, the parties agree that

² The original agreement was entered into between American Star and JWH Acquisitions, LLC, which is an affiliate of JW Homes, LLC. (R. p. 054; R. pp. 062-084.) Before the closing, JWH Acquisitions assigned its rights, obligations, and interest under the agreement to JW Homes, LLC, and the Primus Property was subsequently conveyed to JW Homes in July, 2015. (R. p. 055.)

³ For reasons that are still the subject of discovery and dispute in the litigation, American Star’s interest in the condemnation proceeds was not memorialized or recorded at the closing.

any proceeds paid by the governmental authority to Buyer or Seller will be distributed first to Buyer or Seller, as the case may be depending on which party then owns the portion being taken, in an amount equal to the costs and expenses (including attorney's fees) incurred by such party in connection with the taking or agreed-upon sale. Any amounts remaining after paying such costs and expenses will be divided evenly between Buyer and Seller. The parties shall memorialize Seller's interest in the condemnation proceeds by means of a recordable instrument, the form of which is to be agreed upon during the Buyer's Inspection Period, and such instrument shall be signed by the parties and recorded at the Closing.

(*Id.*)

The purchase agreement additionally provides the buyer a right of first offer to negotiate to purchase certain parcels later purchased by American Star, including parcels adjacent to the Primus Property. (R. p. 076.) In consideration of the right of first offer, the buyer agrees to design and construct an access road through the Primus Property to provide vehicular and pedestrian access to connect the Primus Property to American Star's adjacent property:

In consideration for the granting of this Right of First Offer, and regardless of whether Buyer and Seller execute a contract for the purchase and sale of the ROFO Parcels, Buyer agrees the access road ("Access Road") through the Property (not including the ROFO Parcels) to be constructed by Buyer on the Property shall be designed and constructed under standards applicable to public roads to provide vehicular and pedestrian access to connect the Property to the ROFO Parcel 578-00-00-005 (the "Connection"). Buyer agrees this Connection will be depicted on Buyer's Sketch Plan for the Property (as distinguished from any Sketch Plan applicable to the ROFO Parcels) that is ultimately approved by the Town and shall be designed and constructed as a continuation of the Access Road serving the Property to the point it touches the common boundary line between the Property and ROFO Parcel 578-00-00-005. Buyer's obligation to design and construct the Connection survives the Closing.

(R. pp. 076-077.)

The Primus Property purchase agreement includes a section binding each party's successors and assigns to the agreement. (R. pp. 075.) Specifically, Section 23 provides, "All covenants, agreements, warranties, and provisions of the Agreement shall be binding upon and

inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, **successors and assigns.**” (*Id.*) (emphasis added).

Later in 2015, Defendant PulteGroup, Inc. entered into an asset purchase agreement (the “APA”), whereby PulteGroup would acquire substantially all assets of JW Homes, including the Primus Property. (R. p. 055.) Pursuant to the APA, PulteGroup agreed to assume and discharge certain liabilities and obligations of JW Homes, including the obligations to design and construct the access road and to share condemnation proceeds. (*Id.*)

In January 2016, PulteGroup acquired substantially all of JW Homes’s assets pursuant to the APA. (*Id.*) On that same day, JW Homes conveyed the Primus Property to Pulte Home Corporation, which is an affiliate or subsidiary of PulteGroup.⁴ (*Id.*)

Under the APA and the related transactions conveying the Primus Property to Pulte, Pulte expressly agreed to assume responsibility for the obligations under the Primus Property purchase agreement, including the obligations to design and construct the access road and share condemnation proceeds. (R. p. 056.) In addition, American Star alleges that Pulte assumed JW Homes’s obligations under the Primus Property purchase agreement because the circumstances surrounding Pulte’s acquisition warrant a finding of a consolidation or merger. (*Id.*) American Star has made repeated demands for Pulte to design and construct the access road, but Pulte has refused American Star’s demands. (*Id.*)

As a result of the dispute regarding Pulte’s obligations to construct the access road and share condemnation proceeds, American Star filed a lis pendens on the Primus Property on April 6, 2018, providing notice of potential litigation regarding the Primus Property. (R. pp. 009-013.) American Star subsequently filed the complaint on April 26, 2018, seeking specific performance

⁴ Hereafter, PulteGroup and Pulte Home Corporation will be referred to collectively as Pulte.

for Pulte to construct the access road and a declaratory judgment establishing American Star's right to share proceeds from future condemnation of the Primus Property. (R. pp. 014-051.)

Following commencement of the action, Pulte obtained approval of the final plat for residential development of the Primus Property, resulting in a subdivision of residential lots. (R. p. 129.) Thereafter, Plaintiffs filed an amended lis pendens on the subdivided lots subject to possible condemnation and the lots which could serve as the site of the access road. (R. pp. 120-122.)

Pulte moved to cancel the lis pendens, and the circuit court issued an order canceling the lis pendens on November 16, 2018. (R. pp. 003-008.) According to the circuit court, the lis pendens did not meet the statutory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-11-10 because the actions asserted by American Star did not "affect[] the title to Pulte's real property." (R. p. 006)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"[A] lis pendens that meets the statutory requirement for filing may not be canceled during the pendency of litigation." *Carolina Park Assocs., LLC v. Marino*, 400 S.C. 1, 9, 732 S.E.2d 876, 880 (2012). However, if the court finds that the lis pendens does not "affect the title to real property" as required under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-11-10, the lis pendens is not authorized by the statute, and the statute does not limit the court's power to cancel it. *Id.*

In this case, the circuit court ruled as a matter of law that American Star's action did not meet the statutory requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-11-10 to support a lis pendens. (R. pp. 006-007.) Because this appeal depends on the construction of a statute, it presents a question of law subject to de novo review. *See Ex parte State ex rel. Wilson*, 391 S.C. 565, 570, 707 S.E.2d 402, 405 (2011) ("The construction of a statute is a question of law, which this Court may resolve without deference to the circuit court."); *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 42 (2008) ("Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a

question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law de novo.”); *see also Carolina Park Assocs.*, 400 S.C. at 6, 732 S.E.2d at 878 (applying de novo standard of review to whether circuit court erred in canceling a lis pendens).

ARGUMENT

I. Actions affecting title to real property include actions to establish rights and liabilities incidental to ownership of real property, to enforce encumbrances against real property, to establish easements over real property, and for specific performance relating to real property.

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-11-10, a lis pendens may be filed “[i]n an action affecting the title to real property.” The purpose of a lis pendens is to inform potential purchasers that a particular piece of real property is subject to pending litigation. *Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole*, 351 S.C. 1, 17, 567 S.E.2d 881, 889 (Ct. App. 2002). “A properly filed lis pendens binds subsequent purchasers or encumbrancers to all proceedings evolving from the litigation.” *South Carolina Nat’l Bank v. Cook*, 291 S.C. 530, 532, 354 S.E.2d 562 (1987). Therefore, “an action ‘affecting the title to real property’ clearly allows the filing of a lis pendens by an interested party in order to protect their ownership interest in the property subject to the litigation.” *Pond Place Partners*, 351 S.C. at 17, 567 S.E.2d at 889.

In determining what actions “affect the title to real property,” South Carolina courts have not limited a lis pendens to only those actions in which title to or ownership of real property is directly claimed. Rather, the “doctrine of lis pendens applies to all suits or actions which directly affect real property, and not only those which involve the question of title, but also those which are brought to establish an equitable estate, interest, or right in specific real property or to enforce any lien, charge, or encumbrance against it...” *Finley v. Hughes*, 106 F. Supp. 355, 356 (D.S.C. 1952); *see also* 54 C.J.S. *Lis Pendens* § 10 (“[A] lis pendens generally applies not only to those actions which involve the question of title, or a possessory interest, but also to litigation that does

not seek to change the ownership of land in any way but does involve a determination of certain rights and liabilities incident to ownership.”). As such, the South Carolina Court of Appeals has recognized that actions affecting the title to real property include, among others, actions to establish the existence of an easement, for specific performance, to establish a constructive trust, to quiet title, and to reform deeds. *Pond Place Partners*, 351 S.C. at 17-18, 567 S.E.2d at 889.

II. The declaratory judgment action seeking to establish American Star’s right to condemnation proceeds affects title to real property because it seeks to establish a right incident to ownership of real property and to enforce an encumbrance against real property.

It is axiomatic that a right incident to the ownership of property includes the right to sell such property and to receive the proceeds. *See Painter v. Town of Forest Acres*, 231 S.C. 56, 60, 97 S.E.2d 71, 73 (1957) (stating that “property consists not merely in its ownership and possession but an unrestricted right to use, enjoyment, and disposal”); *Huguenot Mills v. Jempson & Co.*, 68 S.C. 363, 365, 47 S.E. 687 (1904) (declaring that an incident of ownership is the power to sell); 73 C.J.S. *Property* § 48 (“The right to own and enjoy property includes the right to sell it . . . and the price.”). Thus, an action to establish rights and liabilities as to the disposition of real property and the resulting proceeds involves a determination of rights and liabilities incident to ownership and, therefore, affects title to real property.

Here, American Star’s action for declaratory judgment seeks a determination of its and Pulte’s rights incident to ownership of the Primus Property that run with the land. (R. pp. 057-058.) Specifically, American Star seeks a judicial declaration that if a portion of the Primus Property is later sold to the Town of Mount Pleasant through condemnation, then American Star is entitled to share in the condemnation proceeds. Because this determination involves the disposition of real property and the ownership of the proceeds from such disposition, it necessarily

involves incidents of ownership and affects the title to real property. Therefore, the lis pendens on the lots within the project area is proper under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-11-10.

Also, American Star's declaratory judgment action seeks determination of restrictions and liabilities regarding the disposition of the Primus Property through condemnation as to Pulte and subsequent purchasers of the subdivided lots. It seeks not only a declaration of American Star's positive rights as to the Primus Property but also a restriction on Pulte's and its successors' right to enjoy the proceeds from the disposition of the Primus Property through condemnation. Thus, American Star's declaratory judgment action seeks a determination that it has an encumbrance on the Primus Property.

“An encumbrance is a right or interest in the land granted ‘which may subsist in third persons to the diminution in value of the estate although consistent with the passing of the fee.’” *Truck South, Inc. v. Patel*, 339 S.C. 40, 48, 528 S.E.2d 424, 428-429 (2000) (quoting *Martin v. Floyd*, 282 S.C. 47, 51, 317 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 1984)). In other words, an encumbrance is “[a] claim or liability that is attached to property or some other right that may lessen its value, such as a lien or mortgage; any property right that is not an ownership interest.” *Id.* (quoting *Black's Law Dictionary* 547 (7th ed. 1999)).

Here, American Star's asserted right in the condemnation proceeds is an encumbrance because it is both a claim and liability attached to the Primus Property that lessens its value, especially in the event of a condemnation. For example, if a lot in question has a fair market value of \$200,000, it will only be worth \$100,000 to the lot owner if it is condemned because of the requirement to split condemnation proceeds with American Star. Similarly, the fair market value of such a lot may be reduced because of the risk purchasers incur based on the potential need to share condemnation proceeds. And because American Star's action seeks to establish an

encumbrance on the Primus Property through its claim to future condemnation proceeds, it affects title to the Primus Property and meets the statutory requirements of § 15-11-10. *See Finley*, 106 F. Supp. at 356 (stating that doctrine of lis pendens applies to all suits or actions brought to enforce any encumbrance against it).

Although American Star's action for judicial determination of its right to future condemnation proceeds arises from an interest tied to real property, the circuit court erroneously found that the action did not affect title to real property because it asserts an alleged contractual right to money. In so doing, the circuit court oversimplified the nature of American Star's claim. American Star does not merely request a contractual right to money. It also seeks a judicial declaration that it has an equitable interest in the Primus Property with respect to proceeds from the property's disposition.

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