THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

JUN 12 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2018-002277

American Star Development SC, LLC; KKMC Investments, LLC; and 211, LLC,
..... Plaintiffs,

v.

PulteGroup, Inc.; Pulte Home Corporation, n/k/a Pulte Home Company, LLC; and
JW Homes, LLC, Defendants,

Of which American Star Development SC, LLC is theAppellant,

And Pulte Home Corporation, n/k/a Pulte Home Company, LLC is theRespondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

G. Trenholm Walker (SC Bar #5777)
John P. Linton, Jr. (SC Bar #79130)

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

Appellant does its best to try to distinguish Martin & Earle but ultimately fails to provide a basis for ignoring this determination of the Court. It asserts that the opinion's ruling that a contingent right to receive proceeds on the disposition of real property is personal is dicta. Appellant also argues the discussion should be ignored because the case did not involve a lis pendens. However, Appellant does not cite a single South Carolina case ruling that a contingent interest in the proceeds of the sale of real property is an interest affecting title, is an encumbrance, or even an interest in the property.

Appellant also asks this Court to ignore Caulk v. Orange County, 661 So. 2d 932, 934 (Fla. 5th Dist. App. 1995), one of the cases cited by the circuit court. See id. (holding a covenant

purporting to reserve to a grantor a right to condemnation proceeds could not run with the land because “[t]he only thing the covenant in the instant case really ‘touches’ and ‘concerns’ is the intangible personal property, namely cash, that may be paid by a condemnor.”). Appellant points to J.H. Williams Oil Co., Inc. v. Harvey, 872 So. 2d 287, 289 (Fla. 2d Dist. App. 2004) in support of its argument that its purported claim to a share of future condemnation proceeds runs with the land.

In Williams Oil the Florida District Court of Appeals distinguished Caulk because the parties in Williams Oil actually encumbered the property with language in a recorded deed and recorded reservation agreement relating to future condemnation proceeds. See id. (“the language in the deeds and the reservation agreement at issue here clearly indicates that the parties intended to bind all successors and assigns and that the subsequent conveyance was subject to this reservation.”). Were that the case here— i.e., if American Star was asking the court to enforce language in a deed or a restrictive covenant that runs with the land—then this case would affect title to real property. However, that is not so. The deed to the Primus Property did not contain any such wording nor was any similar restrictive covenant recorded at the time of the conveyance.

In arguing that the alleged contingent personal right to condemnation proceeds is sufficient to support the filing of the Lis Pendens, Appellant cites to paragraph 13(a) of the Agreement, but this section does not support Appellant’s argument. This section states that “[t]he parties shall memorialize Seller's interest in the condemnation proceeds by means of a recordable instrument, the form of which is to be agreed upon during the Buyer’s Inspection Period, and such instrument shall be signed by the parties and recorded at the Closing.” See (Am. Compl., Ex. A ¶13 (a)). For some unexplained reason the seller did not seek or insist upon such a recordable interest that *was*

to be signed and recorded at closing, but instead now seeks to unilaterally impose one four years after closing against a subsequent buyer.

Appellant incorrectly argues that the alleged personal interest in condemnation proceeds is somehow converted to an interest affecting title by this provision of the Agreement. Appellant's argument that this sentence converts the alleged personal interest into an interest running with the land should be rejected for multiple reasons.

First, Appellant's own allegations are inconsistent with its argument on appeal. In the Amended Complaint, Appellant does not allege that the language of paragraph 13(a) creates an interest affecting title to real property. The Amended Complaint does not seek an order requiring the recording of any document or a judgment that its alleged interest in possible future condemnation proceeds must be memorialized by a recorded document. In fact, because the language of the Agreement stated that the recording would happen "at Closing," which occurred on or about July 31, 2015, the contract language cannot be effectuated by a lawsuit years after the closing. See (A. Compl. ¶17) (alleging closing took place on or about July 31, 2015).

American Star calls upon West v. Newberry Elec. Co-op., 357 S.C. 537, 543, 593 S.E.2d 500, 503 (Ct. App. 2004) to lend help to its argument an alleged personal interest in possible future condemnation proceeds is somehow converted to an interest in land because section 13(a) of the Agreement allowed the parties to memorialize the agreement to split proceeds by a recorded document. In West, this Court found that a *written easement* that contained several restrictive covenants and indicated it was binding on the successors and assigns forever, was a covenant running with the land even though the instrument had not been properly recorded. Unlike this case,

West involved an *easement*. Further, the wording the parties used in the easement showed the parties intended that the covenant run with the land and that it touched and concerned the land⁸:

The very language of the 1955 easement reveals it to be a restrictive covenant that runs with the land. In the agreement, NEC promises to relocate the power line should the property ever “be developed.” **That agreement applies to the land.** While the agreement does not specify whether this promise was to be honored only with respect to the Matthews, **it does envision the future of the land** and thus applies to the Wests.

Moreover, **the restrictive covenants in the 1955 easement touch and concern the subject property.** The Matthews insisted upon several **conditions in order to maintain the safety and value of the property.** The subject of the covenants is a power line connected to and crossing over the land. **Adherence to the covenants by NEC directly affects the nature and value of the easement** to both NEC and the Wests. The covenants in the easement also **restrict the manner in which NEC can use the easement.** The exact location of the easement on the property is not described in the easement, but its possible relocation is contemplated. ***The covenants were obviously intended to touch and concern the subject property.*** While the language of the easement does not expressly state the covenants were intended to touch and concern the subject property, that is clearly implied.

Id. at 542–43, 593 S.E.2d at 503 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis and double emphasis added).

As discussed in detail above, the right to condemnation proceeds is a personal right, which does not touch and concern land. The alleged right to share in condemnation proceeds does not restrict the use of land or restrict the nature and value of any easement. Contrary to the argument it makes in its brief, the Amended Complaint does not even allege that the alleged contractual right to share condemnation proceeds touches and concerns the land.

⁸ A restrictive covenant runs with the land, and is thus enforceable by a successor-in-title, if the covenanting parties intended that the covenant run with the land, and the covenant touches and concerns the land. Houck v. Rivers, 316 S.C. 414, 450 S.E.2d 106 (Ct. App.1994); Charping v. J.P. Scurry & Co., 296 S.C. 312, 372 S.E.2d 120 (Ct.App.1988) (citing Epting v. Lexington Water Power Co., 177 S.C. 308, 181 S.E. 66 (1935), and Cheves v. City Council, 140 S.C. 423, 138 S.E. 867 (1927)).

American Star also asserts that “. . . an action to establish rights and liabilities as to the disposition of real property and the resulting proceeds involves a determination of rights and liabilities incident to ownership and, therefore, affects title to real property.” App. Br., 9. American Star mischaracterizes its claim by referring to it as action to establish rights and liabilities as to the *disposition* of real property. There is no claim in this case seeking to control the disposition of the Primus Property. Indeed, its claim anticipates a possible future disposition—condemnation—that it does not contest. Its declaratory judgment involves an alleged dispute over the disposition of the proceeds, not over the disposition of the land.

American Star’s arguments that its claims interfere with the right to sell the Primus Property and therefore affect an interest in real property are also misplaced. American Star relies on two cases and a CJS section stating that ownership of property includes the right to sell. *Id.* (citing Painter v. Town of Forest Acres, 231 S.C. 56, 60, 97 S.E.2d 71, 73 (1957); Huguenot Mills v. Jempson & Co., 68 S.C. 363, 365, 47 S.E. 687 (1904); 73 C.J.S. Property § 48). These authorities are inapposite.

American Star has not asserted an ownership right to sell the Primus Property. American Star has merely asserted a contractual right to receive a share of proceeds from any condemnation of certain property. Were any of these parcels condemned, American Star would not be considered a condemnee or landowner, and thus the disposition of the property would not involve American Star. See S.C. Code §28-2-30 (6) & (12) (“‘Condemnee’ means a person or other entity who has a record interest in or holds actual possession of property that is the subject of a condemnation action” . . . “‘Landowner’ means one or more condemnees having a record fee simple interest in the property condemned or any part thereof, as distinguished from condemnees who possess a lien

or other nonownership interest in the property; where there are more than one, the term means the condemnees collectively, unless expressly provided otherwise.”).

American Star asserts that it is seeking a declaratory judgment that the Agreement requires the owner of the Primus Property to share condemnation proceeds with Plaintiffs is an action concerning an encumbrance affecting title. In so arguing, American Star states “because American Star’s action seeks to establish an encumbrance on the Primus Property through its claim to future condemnation proceeds, it affects title to the Primus Property and meets the statutory requirements” of the lis pendens statute. See App. Br., 10-11.

However, again, the Amended Complaint includes no such claim. There is no cause of action seeking to establish an “encumbrance.” Instead, the Amended Complaint seeks declaratory judgment as to the meaning of a contract provision requiring Pulte to share any future condemnation proceeds. See (Am. Compl., ¶ 49) (Plaintiffs allege they “are entitled to a declaratory judgment that PulteGroup and PHC are successors to JWH with respect to JWH's obligations under the Agreement and, therefore, have an obligation to share the proceeds from any subsequent condemnation of the Primus Property or any portion thereof.”); (Am. Compl., Prayer for Relief (b)) (requesting “[t]hat this Court enter a declaratory judgment that PulteGroup and PHC are successors to JWH with respect to JWH's obligations under the Agreement and, therefore, have an obligation to share with Plaintiffs the proceeds from any subsequent condemnation of the Primus Property or any portion thereof. . .”).

Because Appellant’s claim for a share of any future condemnation proceeds is a claim to share personal property, not real property, and does not affect the disposition in a possible future condemnation nor seek to impose an encumbrance on the real property, the claim does not affect title to any real property. The circuit court’s cancelation of the Lis Pendens on the ground the

declaratory judgment over the contractual provision addressing condemnation proceeds does not affect an interest in real property should be affirmed.

III. The circuit court should be affirmed on the additional affirming ground that American Star's Lis Pendens was properly cancelled because American Star assigned any right it had under the 2015 Agreement to 211, LLC and KKMC Investments, LLC in July 2015, neither of which are appellants.

This Court may affirm the circuit court on additional arguments that were not the stated basis for the circuit court's decision, provided the basis for the argument appears in the record. See generally, I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) ("The appellate court may review respondent's additional reasons and, if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court's judgment."); SCACR 220(c) ("The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal."). As explained herein, there are additional sustaining grounds upon which this Court could affirm the circuit court.

The Amended Complaint alleges that "subsequent to entering into the [2015] Agreement but before the closing on the purchase of the Primus Property, ... *American Star assigned its rights, obligations, and interest under the [2015] Agreement to 211, LLC and KKMC Investments, LLC.*" (Am. Compl, ¶ 16) (double emphasis added). Generally, "parties are judicially bound by their pleadings unless withdrawn, altered or stricken by amendment or otherwise." Gary v. Lowcountry Med. Transport, Inc., 424 S.C. 18, 22, 817 S.E.2d 291, 293–94, (Ct. App. 2018), *reh'g denied* (Aug. 16, 2018), *cert. denied* (Jan. 10, 2019) (quoting Postal v. Mann, 308 S.C. 385, 387, 418 S.E.2d 322, 323 (Ct. App. 1992)).

In this appeal, American Star purports to take a position contradictory to that taken in its pleadings. Specifically, American Star asserts that the Lis Pendens should not have been cancelled

because it seeks an adjudication affecting title. Both alleged interests—the interest in possible future condemnation proceeds and the interest in Pulte building a connection road on its own property—arise from the Agreement. By its own pleadings, American Star has no rights or interests under the Agreement. “The purpose of an assignment is to divest the assignor of a right. Thus, once a valid and unqualified assignment is made, all interests and rights of the assignor are transferred to the assignee...” 6 Am Jur 2d Assignments § 122. Therefore, even if this Court determined that the claims discussed above affected title to real property, even though they do not, the Court should still affirm the circuit court because the only appellant assigned any rights under the Agreement to the other two entities four years ago.

IV. The circuit court should be affirmed on the additional affirming ground that the Lis Pendens was properly cancelled because Appellant cannot assert an interest in the real property as a matter of law. The Agreement that is the basis for Appellant’s claims specifies the seller conveyed the Primus Property free and clear of encumbrances and liens.

All of Appellant’s claims in this lawsuit arise out of the Agreement. The Agreement did not reserve to the seller any rights in the real estate sold; it required the seller to convey the Primus Property “free and clear of all liens and encumbrances except the Permitted Exceptions.” (Am. Compl., Ex. A, ¶4(b)(i) and ¶8(a)(v)).⁹ The Agreement did not reserve any liens, encumbrances, or easements in favor of the seller with respect to the alleged obligation to design and construct the Connection or the alleged obligation to split net condemnation proceeds in the future. Because the Agreement upon which American Star bases its claims specifically provided that the Primus

⁹ The “Permitted Exceptions” are defined as “those enumerated in Exhibit ‘C’.” Ex. 5 at Ex A, ¶4(b)(i). Exhibit “C” to the 2015 Agreement was not part of the copy of the 2015 Agreement attached to the Amended Complaint, but American Star does not contend that the Connector or an interest in a portion of future condemnation proceeds was listed in the “Special Exceptions.”


Property was to be conveyed free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, American Star cannot now claim that Agreement gives it rights that are an interest affecting title to real property. See generally, Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp., 400 S.C. 281, 295, 733 S.E.2d 597, 604 (Ct. App. 2012) (“[A] party may not ‘rely on the contract when it works to its advantage and repudiate it when it works to its disadvantage.’”) (citations omitted)). Therefore, the Court should affirm the circuit court on the additional sustaining ground that the Agreement required the Primus Property to be conveyed free and clear of any interest affecting title to real property, which necessarily excludes any later alleged interest in or encumbrance on the Primus Property based on the Agreement.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the Order of the circuit court cancelling the Lis Pendens should be affirmed.